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Impact review Welcome from our Chair

It is 10 years since we put together the first 
prototype for Founders4Schools and I am 
pleased to report  that since then, we have 
facilitated more than 1.5  million encounters 
between employers and students via 
educators - despite  the  recent backdrop of 
the recent global pandemic, which has been 
incredibly disruptive to all the elements of our 
value chain. 

Welcome

Inspiring young people

Our supporters

The future Accounts

Our impact

Supporting educators

Our trustees

Projects in focus

Partners in impact

Fundraising
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Sherry Coutu, MBE  
Founder & Chair, Founders4Schools

Impact review Welcome from our Chair

Glossary of Terms

BCG Boston Consulting Group

DCMS Department of Culture, Media and Sport

F4S  Founders4Schools

LEP Local Enterprise Partnership

NCETM National Centre for Excellence in the Teaching of Mathematics

To have helped more than 500,000 young people with their 
transition to work is a testament to what can be achieved by 
stakeholders in their communities when they put their minds 
and resources together on important matters, but there is 
much more to do and it is more important than ever.

I am pleased that innovation still beats strongly within our 
heart - and that our original offering now enables additional 
encounter-types in the tech-for-good sphere.

Maths4Girls 
Building on the meme, if you can’t see it you can’t be it… 
Maths4Girls allows us to showcase to 11-14 year old girls 
women in all industries use mathematics in their everyday 
professional lives.   Our on-line and in-real life encounters are 
cross referenced to the UN Sustainable Development Goals, 
allowing both educators and the employers of our volunteers 
to chart their impact on the SDG’s as well.

Digital Boost
To support members of the communities who have been 
volunteering their time in classrooms for the past ten years, 
we leveraged the F4S platform so it could tap the highly 

expert volunteers from the professional services and digital 
industries to inspire and upskill our volunteers who work for 
small businesses (rather than educators from schools).  This 
preserves and makes more resilient the pipeline of talent 
we can make available to young people in the schools our 
educator-users work at.

Workfinder
The classroom is a very narrow place from which to view the 
world!  To supplement the classroom-based encounters we 
make available to young people and the networks that may 
be available to them via their parents, aunts and uncles, we 
support young people with experiential learning, mentoring, 
masterclasses and short-online courses via Workfinder.  
Experiential learning ranges from short employer show-case 
tasters, to placements of 1-4 weeks, to internships of 1-12  
months, to apprenticeships and permanent roles. 

The impact outlined in this report was not possible 
without our multiple stakeholders  to whom I extend my 
wholehearted appreciation.  From the educators who 
choose our platform to enrich their curriculum; to our 
volunteer role models who share their time, knowledge and 
career journeys in the hope it will light a spark of inspiration; 
to our donors, partners and funders who enable us to deliver 
our mission of better preparing young people for the future 
world of work and lastly to the wonderful team at F4S and to 
our Trustees and Advisors, whose guidance and advice has 
supported us through this year.

I am grateful to you all for thriving in what was a challenging 
year in an interesting journey so far.  As I look forward, I 
am encouraged by what is already shaping up to be an 
impactful year supporting the next generation of talent as 
they prepare for the world of work.

Welcome  
from our Chair

NEET Not in Education, Employment or Training

SDGs  Sustainable Development Goals

SEEs Student-Employer Encounters

SME Small to Medium Enterprise

STEM Science, Technology, Engineering, Mathematics

WWF World Wildlife Fund
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Our Managing  
Director

Impact review Our Managing Director

Michaela Eschbach 
Managing Director, Founders4Schools

Careers Education across the UK has faced 
continued upheaval in 2020/2021. Educators 
had to deal with growing mental health issues 
among young people whilst they battled to 
overcome the challenges around supporting 
the recovery of academic performance.  
They did this against a background of ever-
changing rules on how to deliver education 
during the pandemic. As a result, the focus 
on careers education was often dropped - 
leaving young people with either severely 
reduced or no access to the necessary 
insights and role models they need to help  
set them on their path to success.

At the same time,  industries such as Digital Tech & FinTech 
have experienced enormous increases in the need for skills 
and talent to satisfy the growing demand for their services. The 
gigantic growth of careers in sustainability has had an impact 
on the need for a skilled workforce in roles that have just come 
into existence. Looking at only these sectors we can see that 
the existing skills gap has been widened.  

At Founders4Schools, we are truly dedicated to supporting industry 
to engage with young people, to inspire and share insights into 
careers and the skills required to succeed. At the same time, we 
are passionate about supporting young people in gaining the 
necessary understanding of the world of work to make informed 
choices about their career pathway and help them overcome 
unconscious and conscious biases and self-limiting beliefs. 

To support educators to overcome the unexpected external 
pressures as they provide career education, and enabling 
businesses continue to inspire young people, we are proud to say 
that in 2020/21 we have taken the opportunity to expand our digital 
services offering nation wide virtual role mode encounter.  This 
enabled us to deliver over 83,000 Student - Employer role model - 
Encounters, reaching young people in new areas which we have 
previously not been able to engage due to geographical constraints.

Jenk (16) is one of Youth Ambassadors as 
well as being the Founder of Thred Media, 
a publishing, consulting and production 
company aimed at Gen Z. The overall business 
is shaped by Youth Culture, powered by Social 
Change and run by Gen Z professionals.  
The central tenet is a digital magazine  
www.thred.com where each published article 
must have a ‘thred’ of positive social change. 
Jenk has given several TED talks, been 
featured in Forbes, Business Insider and has 
been the recipient of nineteen publishing and 
entrepreneur awards including the Diana 
Award Honour Roll.

Organisations have welcomed the virtual approach which 
enabled their volunteering and community outreach 
programmes to resume and ensured efficient yet impactful 
use of employee time.   They also welcome the fact that the 
opportunities are inclusive to all employees, especially those 
who may have faced logistical constraints in attending in-
school encounters.

We have further strengthened our focus in delivering digital 
skills, equity in STEM, careers in sustainability and signposting 
education pathways, to address the greatest needs of all. 

Our Maths4Girls programme has made enormous progress and 
we were able to scale it in spite of the pandemic meaning that we 
worked with over 50,000 students across all our programmes. 

We have also started to build new collaborations with other 
charities to support their volunteering and/or educational 
outreach. We strongly believe that there is an enormous 
opportunity to be a conduit - helping to simplify access for 
educators whilst supporting third sector organisations in our 
sector to scale.  

Our partnership with Workfinder has enabled us to support 
young people to secure virtual  work experience and internships 
- building their skills whilst working from home. The placement 
guidance Workfinder has developed has benefited young 
people by ensuring access to meaningful experience and also 
enabled our business partners to continue to offer placements.

Overall, excited to see engagement with educators to pick up 
again enabling us to engage with as many educators and young 
people in the near future as we have done prior to the pandemic. 
The Covid-19 pandemic has had an unexpected outcome – it 
has made us stronger by allowing us to work with partners and 
educators we may otherwise not have reached. 

We are also excited to share that Digital Boost, our Project 
supporting SMEs to digitalise has taken off and supported 
thousands of SMEs. In June we decided to spin Digital Boost out 
into our Limited Trading arm to enable it to accelerate. 

A particular thank you to all our partners who have chosen and 
continued to support us throughout the year. Their support was 
and continues to be invaluable for the success of our charity. 

Our Youth  
Ambassador

Impact review Our Youth Ambassador

Jenk Oz 
Thred Media As young people emerge 

from the pandemic, the role 
of F4S is more critical than 
ever before. The level of 
anxiety overwhelming teens 
due to both health and rising 
unemployment, means that our 
generation needs more frequent 
mentoring and professional 
guidance. Their expert advice, 
knowledge and experience will 
bring hope to an audience in 
much need of positivity, sense 
of purpose and renewed drive. 
F4S is ready to take on that 
challenge and execute during 
this most critical time.
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F4S went digital first to mitigate 
the effects of the pandemic and 

introduced our Futures4Students 
Fundraising Campaign and Careers 

Awareness Programme.

Whilst our ambition to scale is strong as 
ever, we have deviated from the time 
scale recognising the impact of the 

pandemic on us, educators and many 
of our organisations we work with. 

For 2023 & beyond we will explore 
international partnerships

In 2021 Maths4Girls was rolled 
out nationally and we launched 

our Sustainable Futures 
Programme and our inaugral 

virtual Futures4Studentsl Careers 
Jam,  as we aligned our activities 
more clearly with our 3 strategic 
pillars - digital skills, sustainable 

careers and equity in STEM.

Working to deliver our hybrid model 
of in person or virtual events ensuring 

our educators are engaging and 
we are working with schools new 

to the F4S Platform.  Outreach 
will focus on schools  in areas 

with a high proportion of young 
people from a low socio-economic 
background.  We will also work to  

embed our flagship programmes - 
Maths4Girls, Sustainable Futures and 

Futures4Studentsl Careers Jam.

2020

STEM

2021

2022
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Impact review Our impact

Our mission is to advance and promote 
the education of people under the age of 
25 by promoting, facilitating and assisting 
in the provision of inspirational careers 
education and advice. 

We encourage and enable young people to leave 
formal education with a skill set and career insights 
needed to succeed in the rapidly changing world of 
work, thereby reducing the skills gap.  We do this with 
a focus on entrepreneurship in the fields of technology, 
applied sciences and related subjects.

Strategically we are focusing three pillars to help 
prepare young people for the jobs of today and the 
future, digital careers, sustainability and driving equity 
in STEM.

We do this by connecting educators with volunteer role 
models through our digital platform so they can share 
their career journey, either in the classroom or virtually, or 
through our F4S Digital Careers Spotlight programme.

Our model is aligned with the UN’s Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) to achieve a sustainable 
future for all and help to drive a skilled and diverse 
workforce.  The goals are a universal call to end 
poverty, protect the planet and improve the lives and 
prospects of everyone, everywhere. The 17 Goals focus 
on building economic growth and address a range 
of social needs including education, health, social 
protection, and job opportunities while tackling climate 
change and environmental protection.

At F4S, we want to uphold these values to provide equal 
opportunities to all, empower young people, and build 
the future talent pipeline to increase social mobility.
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Our work 
& impact

Impact review Our impact

DIGITAL CAREERS

SUSTAINABILITY

STEM CAREERS
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Impact review Our impact
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Here is how we achieve the  
Sustainable Development  
Goals we align with:

Impact review Our impact

Survival of SMEs and charities 
mean livelihoods are saved - 
from those employed to the 
populations they serve

By connecting volunteers who 
want to help and organisations 
who need help in times of 
crisis, Digital Boost fosters 
improved mental wellbeing for 
all by drawing on the power of 
community

By connecting digital experts 
to schools, small businesses 
and charities that need help, 
Digital Boost & F4S foster 
greater community inclusivity 
and resilience globally.

Women make up ⅔ of UK’s 
voluntary sector workforce1 - 
survival of small organisations 
means more opportunities 
to thrive for all genders. F4S 
supports female leadership 
development and insights

Our mentoring, classroom 
encounters and Workshops 
help teachers, small 
businesses & charities survive 
and thrive innovatively through 
digital methods

By helping SMEs and charities 
survive and continue their 
operations, the most vulnerable 
populations of society can be 
saved from uncertainties over 
basic sustenance

Digital Boost & F4S provides 
world-class digitalisation 
training that SMEs and charities 
don’t otherwise have the 
resources to afford

Slow adoption of technology 
and modern practices 
contributes to a loss of £100B 
in GDP2 - Digital Boost & F4S 
directly help to close this gap

Underinvestment in digitisation 
has led to a 82% productivity 
gap between small and large 
businesses3  Digital Boost helps 
to unlock the full potential of 
small organisations. F4S Role 
models in classrooms reach 
students who need them most. 1 NCVO, June 2019

2 CBI study, 2017

3 European Commission Policy paper, 2019

Women make up two 
thirds of UK’s voluntary 
sector workforce1 
- survival of small 
organisations means 
more opportunities to 
thrive for all genders.
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Impact review Projects in focus

This year has been a milestone year for F4S. In response to 
the challenges faced by the education sector throughout 
Covid-19, we have innovated the way we deliver SEEs. Our 
move to digital first has changed the way we deliver our 
outreach, Educators can now search for industry leaders 
from all over the UK to connect with their students. The 
expanded selection of available industry leaders has made 
it easier for educators to find the right person to inspire their 
students no matter where they are located yet still offering 
the opportunity to keep it local if desired. Our capacity has 
also increased, more students can now be accommodated 
in the virtual classroom. 

(50,000 students were supported between July 2020 -  
June 2021, the timescale covered in this review).

Founded by F4S and BCG Digital Venture, our Digital 
Boost platform has been vital for many businesses during 
Covid-19. This service equips SMEs and charities with 
the digital skills needed to meet increasing technological 
demands. We have also collaborated with the online 
learning platform Future Learn to offer a CPD certified 
course designed for educators and schools seeking 
professional development on the digital tools available to 
support their work in preparing students for the world of 
work. Digital Boost has accelerated throughout 2020/21, 
helping 1,000s of SMEs across the country. Following the 
success of the programme we have decided to spin out the 
project into our limited trading arm In June 2021, enabling 
Digital Boost to thrive whilst allowing us to focus on our 
educator related activities.  

Young people are at the heart of everything we do, so we 
rely on their contribution, guidance and collective voices 
to steer our delivery to ensure the greatest impact. This 
year we have been working on the development of a Young 
Ambassadors steering group that will drive awareness of 
our work and increase engagement.

As a response to the world around us, we looked become 
to engage more and become more inclusive as an 
organisation. As a result, this year saw restatement and us 
revisiting how we supported ED&I as a charity both internally 
and in the context of how we support young people. Our work 
with the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham and 
our Maths4Gisl project gave young people the opportunity 
to hear from inspirational and relatable role models who 
have had career success, as we firmly believe that if a young 
person can see it, they can be it.  We actively sought to 
increase diversity within our volunteer bank and invested in 
the development of the F4S Platform that would more easily 
allow us to identify diverse role models. Digital Boost has 
impacted 51% women and the BAME community as well. We 
updated our internal policies on ED&I and sought to increase 
diversity within our organisation both in terms of gender 
and ethnic background.  We are also proud to say that we 
now also have a diverse board of trustees enabling us to be 
inclusive across our organisation, leading by example. 

Partnership working has always been a vital element of 
our engagement activities and this year saw a significant 
benefit resulting from this approach.  In response to the 
pandemic, our Scottish team worked closely with Esgoil, 
Education Scotland and the Developing the Young 
Workforce network to offer young people and educators 
across Scotland a joined-up approach to accessing career 
inspiration activities.  This approach also bore fruit with 
other partners like the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham and Villiers Park.

As with many within the third sector, we have diversified our 
income generation this year, eager to combat the challenges 
we have been facing due to the pandemic. The diversification 
will enable us to be sustainable going forward.  Individuals 
are now able to make donations directly via our fundraising 
microsite website. These donations enable us to continue 
to support the next generation in these uncertain times by 
providing the charity with unrestricted funding.  We launched 
our first-ever individual giving campaign, and we expanded 
our corporate partnerships offering.  This is just the start of 
a more diverse income generation strategy that we will be 
building on in the coming years.

In the past year, F4S became digital first.  While the 
F4S Platform has since our inception been tech-
focused the pandemic led to us adopting digital 
access across all our activities.  This opened our 
offering to young people who had limited or no access 
to our service due to their remote location.  This 
facilitated opportunities for them to be inspired by a 
wider variety of business leaders than those located 
in their local area. While the local element is still 
important to the work that we do, the introduction of 
a hybrid model allows educators to choose the route 
that works best for their students.

Outside the classroom, we have continued to form 
meaningful links with young people and their parents. After 
Covid-19, in-person career fairs and role model encounters 
were suspended in schools, colleges and universities, making 
it harder for employers to connect with the next generation 
of talent.  We opened our F4S Digital Careers Spotlight Days 
to young people directly to give them insight into the many 
different career options available to them and the routes into 
them as well as a better understanding of the skills needed to 
succeed in the world of work. In June 2021, we held our first 
online Careers Jam, which supported over 1,600 students in 
discovering and developing their employability skills through 
workshops and panel discussions. Industry leaders from 
companies such as Snapchat, Hitachi, Hilton, the NHS, 
Google, and InnovateUK, shared their experience, advice 
and tips on a range of issues relevant to young people aged 
between 16-24. 

We also re-vitalised our activities aimed at parents, a key 
stakeholder in inspiring young people in making career 
decisions. We invited them to sign up their homeschooled 
children for our events, introduced a parents newsletter and 
gave them information on work placement opportunities for 
18-24 year olds.

THE PANDEMIC: 
CHALLENGES  
& ACCOMPLISHMENTS

UPSKILLING 
PROFESSIONALS IN ALL 
THINGS DIGITAL

YOUNG  
AMBASSADORS

EQUALITY, DIVERSITY  
& INCLUSION

WORKING IN 
PARTNERSHIP

WIDENING  
SUPPORT

ACCESSIBLE  
LEARNING

OUTSIDE THE 
CLASSROOM1 5

86

4

7

2

3

We are proud to have 
impacted  83,447 students 
through our digital services 
since the start of the 
pandemic in March 2020  

In particular, we recognise 
the support of Jenk Oz, 16,  
an entrepreneur and social  
change activist who has 
supported our work this year 
and promoted us on thred.com

We are excited to grow our team of young ambassadors 
this year to build a diverse representation of young voices 
who will help shape our strategic direction and ensure we 
are responding best to their needs and wants.
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Career Jam

Students reached  
this year

student employer encounters 
since F4S launched 

Students employer  
encounters this year 

volunteers supported  
career inspiration events 

F4S Digital Careers  
spotlight sessions 

students from over 100  
UK locations attended 

business leaders and 
peers in panel discussions 
and workshops 

hours of content on sus-
tainable and digital ca-
reers, innovation and ca-
reer pathways 

virtual booths for educators 
& prospective employers 

teacher organised events 

61 50,922

83,447

1,197 28

629

407 234

Over 1.4 million

Maths4Girls
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Our projects
This year saw the successful rollout 
across England of our Maths4Girls 
programme, which assists educators 
in increasing the proportion of girls 
pursuing maths beyond GCSE by 
connecting girls age 11 and older 
with female professionals who use 
maths in their careers.  

This has meant that including the pilot project 
by the end of June 2021 there were over 33000 
Maths4Girls encounters. We launched a series of 
Maths4Girls @4pm online events running to build 
an audience with families and their young people 
and embedded Maths4Girls events as a core 
component of the F4S Digital Spotlight days.  We 
integrated the lessons learned from the pilot and 
current research into the Maths4Girls encounter 
format and support materials.  For example, 
a guidance script for the M4G encounter has 
been developed which utilises evidence-based 
best practice. Materials have been created for 
educators to support them in linking careers and 
curriculum. Our reach has grown as we have been 
featured in a number of respected and influential 

Impact review Projects in focus

We could not have achieved 
what we did without the 
ongoing support given by 
the Maths4Girls Steering 
Committee. Their support 
and insight have continued 
to help us set the direction 
of the project. 

educational resources including a podcast for 
NCETM, (downloaded over 1000 times and featured 
on the NCETM website) and highlighted in the 
Careers & Enterprise Company My Learning My 
Future materials which are sent to Careers Leaders 
and Hubs across England.

In particular, we would like to highlight what can be 
achieved when we work with corporate partners 
who share values and vision.  We are proud to 
have welcomed immensely supportive corporate 
partners like Chubb to the M4G Steering Group 
ensuring that the corporate interests are reflected. 
We will further expand corporate involvement to 
ensure that all taxonomies are represented.
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Over 1,500 young 
people attended 
Careers Jam 
from over 100 
UK locations, 
with almost 50% 
of attendees 
identifying as 
coming from Black, 
Asian and Minority 
Ethnic communities.

Our projects
Impact review Projects in focus

Sustainable Futures Programme Careers Jam

In June, we were delighted to receive 
a three-year funding grant from 
the Evolution Education Trust for 
a collaborative project with WWF 
and Villiers Park to ensure that 
the importance and relevance of 
“sustainable careers” becomes an 
embedded component in careers 
education across all schools in the UK.

As part of the project, we have launched a new 
Sustainability encounter to make it quick and 
easy for educators to connect their students with 
volunteers who are well placed to share insight 
into their roles and how they contribute to a green 
economy. Next, we will develop a sustainability 
project for employers to offer students valuable 
work experience to inspire interest and support 
future employment chances.

In our continued commitment to 
respond to the changing needs of 
young people, we launched our first 
virtual careers fair, Careers Jam in 
May, sponsored by Innovate UK and 
Hitachi Energy, and kindly funded by 
Kusuma Trust.

Recognising that 16-24 year olds are amongst 
those most impacted by the pandemic, we 
delivered an inclusive event offering live workshops, 
panel discussions and exhibitor engagement with 
Google, Snapchat, VirginMedia, TCS, BT, NHS and 
the British Army amongst others. Over 1,500 young 
people attended from over 100 UK locations, with 
almost 50% of attendees identifying as coming 
from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities. 
Given the reach and impact of this first event, we 
have launched Careers Jam 2022 to take place on 
3rd May.
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Highlights from  
other projects

The Young Person’s Guarantee / 
Developing the Young Workforce  
in Scotland
F4S continued supporting educators across 
Scotland in delivering career inspiration activities 
but expanding the offer to further and higher 
education and young people directly. We aligned 
our encounter types for educators on the F4S 
Platform to better integrate our services with 
the Scottish national offer for career education 
including the introduction of encounters for 
apprenticeships and routes & pathways.

Highlights included the partnership with Esgoil 
& Education Scotland to support their DYW Live 
programme with the DYW Live Pathways Week in 
June being a particular success.  Our work with the 
DYW Regional Groups and the new DYW Schools 
Coordinators continued to gain reach across the 
country as we saw teacher-led events held in the 
Borders and Dumfries & Galloway for the first time 
and nationwide engagement in our F4S Digital 
Careers Spotlight programme.

Overall we supported 
103 events that 
involved157 F4S role 
models to inspire and 
prepare 23,400 young 
people which equates  
to 32,847 SEEs. 

Impact Recognition
Over the years our services with young people, 
teachers, volunteers and partners have been 
recognised by the following organisations:

 Camden Council: STEAM Commission

 CBI: East of England Charity of the Year

 Digital Agenda: Employment and Skills Award

 EdTech 50: For pioneering imaginative 
 employability approaches

 EY Entrepreneur of the Year Awards:  
 Recognised charity 

 Royal Society: Teacher’s Toolkit

 Barclay Entrepreneurship Awards:  
 Outstanding contribution to Entrepreneurship

 Northern Tech Awards: Charity of the Year

 Worshipful Company of Information Technologists 
 Enterprise Awards: Charity of the Year

 London Tech Week Charity of the Year



Digital Boost is a community of passionate 
digital & business volunteer experts committed 
to supporting SME & charity recovery and 
driving inclusive economic growth. Launched in 
June 2020 in partnership with BCG Ventures in 
response to Covid-19, as of June 2021 Digital 
Boost is run as a standalone subsidiary of F4S 

Digital Boost helps people who work for and lead 
small businesses & charities to use digital to help 
their organisations grow revenues. They connect 
people who need to upskill with volunteer digital 
experts for 1:1 mentoring, workshops, and tailored 
course recommendations.

 

 
Approximately 50% of those helped identify 
as women, and more than 35% as from ethnic 
minority backgrounds (where stated). 3,642 
volunteer hours are on offer per week. Based on 
an estimated average salary, the economic value 
of this time is estimated at £7.5 million a year, in 
addition to the intangible benefits to society of 
volunteering.

Digital Boost has attracted the support of 
a number of corporate partners who share 
their commitment to small businesses and 
charities, including NatWest Group, Google, BT, 
Visa, Vodafone, Barclays, Bloomberg, and the 
Mastercard Center for Inclusive Growth.
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Highlights from  
other projects

Our partner projects
Impact review Projects in focus
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The first year of operation 
has seen significant 
success with more than 
3,500 organisations 
being connected to 2,400 
volunteers.

Career Inspiration in the London 
Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham Workfinder - Virtual Work  

Experience Offer
Digital Boost

Mapper: Digital Tools  
for Career Education

F4S supported the local employer engagement 
and career education for the LBHF school 
community. As an area that experiences high 
levels of disadvantage, especially in the Somali and 
wider ethnic community living within the borough 
they were keen their students were engaged with 
positive role models.  

Despite the challenging environment, F4S worked 
with 12 local schools to inspire 636 students resulting 
in 1,833 SEEs and engaging local volunteer role 
models to support their schools. We were also invited 
by the LBHF Council to host two exclusive sessions 
during National Apprenticeship Week for all LBHF 
schools as well as encourage schools to attend our 
national F4S Digital Spotlight sessions.

We partnered with Workfinder to ensure 
that students aged 16-25 received valuable 
opportunities to gain real-world experience while 
at the same time, helping business volunteers and 
corporate partners find young people to help drive 
growth in their businesses. Workfinder responded 
to the opportunities and challenges presented 
by the pandemic by developing a virtual work 
experience offer that works for both young people 
and companies. 

Young people connect via the Workfinder platform 
which offers them guided support through the 
application process to work on projects that offer 
real experience. They can access flexible work 
opportunities ranging from short placements, 
internships, part time or short term full time 
employment so that it fits around their other 
commitments.  This helps them build their CV 
and gain valuable experience as they enter the 
workforce.

Companies benefit by being able to  access 
and develop young people for key projects while 
avoiding bias based on gender, ethnicity, disability 
or socio-economic background. They can build 
bespoke projects or use specially created template 
projects which provide real value to their business. 
Through the Workfinder platform they find young 
people who can support project, for example, in 
creative digital marketing, market research, user 
experience testing, lead generation for sales.

Our online course, developed in partnership with 
FutureLearn, continues to be a useful resource 
for educators looking to understand what digital 
tools are available to support them in their career 
education activities with over 1900 educators 
enrolling on the course.

We also saw a direct link between educators taking 
the course and using the F4S Platform to arrange 
career inspiration events.

F4S worked with 12 local 
schools to inspire 636 
students resulting in 1,833 
SEEs and engaging local 
volunteer role models to 
support their schools. 

SEE = Student-employer encounters which is how F4S 
reports our interactions between volunteers and young 
people to our funders.
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young 
people
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Impact review Inspring young people

These young  
people are 0%  
of our current 
workforce, but  
100% of our  
future workforce

Ian Funnell 
CEO Hitachi Energy

We inspire young people, opening 
their eyes to possible career 
paths to prepare them for the 
rapidly changing world of work 
and increase their employability. 
We connect young people with 
invaluable role model encounters 
in the classroom or virtually, 
meaning geographical location 
does not limit their access to 
gaining insight from a diverse 
network of business role models.  

2019-2020 saw us make our services more 
open to young people by encouraging them to 
join our F4S Digital Careers Spotlight webinars 
directly.  The opening up of our offer through 
F4S Digital, our partnership with Workfinder 
and our #Futures4Students campaign better 
enabled us to provide support for young 
people in the 16-25 year olds.

Inspire

 We inspire and prepare young people for the world 
 of work by connecting them with role models 
 who share their career journey and the skills their 
 organisation or industry look for from their workforce.  
 We do this by supporting teachers who are 
 organising career inspiration events by giving them 
 free access to invite volunteer role models registered 
 on our platform.  This insight not only benefits their 
 students but also enables educators to meet 
 statutory career education benchmarks by engaging 
 with employers.

 Our inaugural F4S virtual Career Jam, launched in 
 June 2021, introduced young people to potential   
 careers, through virtual stands, interactive games   
 and talks. Experiences with exhibitors and business  
 leaders are not only a source of inspiration for   
 students, but they also offer a variety of working   
 opportunities for those who want to get involved.

 Future4Students career inspiration webinars enable  
 students the opportunity to explore different careers  
 of choice and hear about real career journeys  
 from our diverse role models. F4S provides talks  
 from inspirational role models working in a wide 
 variety of job roles and sectors, such as IT, finance, 
 engineering, health and sustainability as well as 
 skills including languages, and entrepreneurship for 
 the student to gain insights as they want. 

 Maths4Girls, one of our initiatives aimed at inspiring 
 girls to study maths post 16 years of age to open up a 
 wide variety of careers, was successfully rolled out 
 across England giving educators the opportunity 
 to book their own encounters with role models who 
 are passionate about where maths can take you.  
 This was coupled with our after school Maths4Girls 
 @ 4 pm sessions where young people with a passion 
 for maths could hear about varied and interesting 
 career stories.

Here are some of the projects we 
delivered to young people:



21

Impact review Inspiring young people

20

Experience

 F4S in partnership with our partner Workfinder   
 offered virtual work placements or internships to 
 explore different roles and develop the skills needed 
 at a time when young people lost many of the usual 
 routes to gaining experience. Work experience 
 is known to be the single most important booster of 
 aspiration and attainment for young people while 
 they are at school and university, and we consider 
 it vital that all students receive work experience  
 to supplement the academic curriculum. Offering 
 experience on commercial projects with growing 
 companies virtually gave young people the chance to 
 use their time in lockdown to do something 
 productive to help their future career either by 
 learning valuable skills or building networks to 
 support for future success.

Impact

 Inspiring future generations and reducing inequalities 
 is one of our goals when it comes to preparing young 
 people to enter the workforce. Aligning project goals 
 with the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals and 
 targeting deprived areas as we did with Maths4Girls 
 or areas with more limited access to an engaged 
 business base as we did in Scotland strengthened 
 our delivery and demonstrated our commitment to 
 delivering impact for young people.  

Here are some of the projects we 
delivered to young people:

Case studyImpact review Inspiring young people

Here’s what young people had to 
say about the first ever F4S Virtual 
Careers Jam

Vicky Rigbye 
Founders4Schools

Inspiring  
young 
people

I began an internship 
with F4S that I found on 
Workfinder. I had just 
graduated in the middle 
of the pandemic and 
everything felt so uncertain. 
During my internship, I was 
encouraged to discover and 
develop skills I didn’t know 
were so useful! It was such a 
valuable experience seeing 
how the charity operates, 
and I feel very fortunate 
to now be an employed 
member of the team.

It was insightful and 
helped me think about 
the aspects of choosing  
a career that I hadn’t 
thought of before.  

I found out about 
more opportunities 
and I’m going to 
look into them more. 
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We are privileged to have a vibrant 
community of thousands of educators 
who work with us to achieve our shared 
passion of creating brighter futures for 
young people no matter their background.

We know working with educators in all forms - 
teachers, career leads, career education specialists, 
lecturers to name just a few - is key to ensuring young 
people are prepared and inspired about their future 
career path.  We value the relationship we have built 
with our educator community and the trust they 
put in us to help them enrich their curriculum and 
career education activities with students, whether 
that be through a career talk, finding a judge for a 
competition or a career skill-based lesson such as 
mock interviews or CV writing support.  This is even 
more true in a year that saw them facing substantial 
challenges in providing basic education to the young 
people in their care.

Highlights of 2020-21 included the national rollout 
of the Maths4Girls programme which has been 
enthusiastically received by educators throughout 
England.  We also expanded our encounter type offer 
to include apprenticeships and routes & pathways to 
provide educators with the employer engagement they 
need to fully prepare their students.  

Our F4S Digital Careers Spotlight programme 
expanded offering educators a curriculum resource 
to support remote careers education and self-
directed study enabling us to reach and support 
young people during the lockdown. 

Lastly, we strengthened our support of teachers’ 
own development in understanding the career 
landscape through regular training sessions that 
included an overview of our evidence-based age-
appropriate careers encounters and upskilled them 
on hosting online career inspiration webinars.  For 
those who looked for more in-depth training our 
Mapper: Navigating Digital Career Tools course was 
delivered in partnership with FutureLearn.

Reasons why 
educators use F4S

It’s a quick and simple way to invite volunteers from the 
world of work into your classroom with customisable event 
briefings, automated reminders and evidence-based 
recommendations for future activities.

Enriches their curriculum and career education helping 
students gain real-world insights helping to close the gap 
between the curriculum and the world of work.

To gain a better understanding of the trends, motivations 
and driving factors of specific industries, knowledge that 
can be passed onto students.

Connect with fast-growing, diverse companies in the 
STEM, creative, and charity sectors among others, that are 
creating jobs in the future, and identify speakers from these 
industries to match the interests and needs of the students.

Access to a personal dashboard to track past and planned 
activity with feedback functionality to rate their encounters 
with business leaders to quality and inspiring speakers. 

We know working 
with educators in 
all forms - teachers, 
career leads, 
career education 
specialists, lecturers 
to name just a few 
- is key to ensuring 
young people are 
prepared and 
inspired about their 
future career path. 
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Career inspiration
Case study

Location 

Students supported

Hours volenteered

Student-Employee encounters

Meldrum Academy

395,607

19.941

1,291,681

Mrs Simone Coetser booked an 
online career event for students to 
expand their understanding of soft 
skills as part of their Level 4 - Steps 
to Work curriculum which focuses 
on employability skills needed for 
success in the workplace.

How did the event work?

What did the students learn?

The aim of this encounter was for learners to 
expand their understanding of soft skills as part 
of their Steps to Work curriculum which focuses 
on employability skills needed for success in the 
workplace.

After attending an F4S Webinar to support 
Educators in delivering Career Education, the 
teacher booked an event and F4S set up a Teams 
Meeting. The event lasted 30 mins, the speakers 
each spoke for 10 mins and then learners asked 
questions, such as “What advice would you give to 
your younger self?”. Some questions were asked via 
chat function as well as verbally. 

The learners felt that both speakers gave good 
examples and shared relevant information which 
complemented what they have been learning 
in class. One speaker used a PowerPoint which 
helped them to concentrate and understand 
the information that he was sharing. They were 
interested in what the speakers shared about what 
they would be looking for in an employee and how 
to present oneself in an interview.
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Key Curricular Impacts

Key Message for students

Learners are now equipped to complete their skills 
profile and have a better understanding of what is 
meant by ‘giving’ examples that demonstrate the skills

Learners gained more insight into what is expected 
for their Mock Interview.

Flexibility and a positive attitude will help you in the 
ever-changing landscape. Some jobs that exist today 
did not exist 20 years ago. Be willing to ask for help and 
to take responsibility.

 
 

 
 
 

I was very well supported 
by F4S and appreciated 
email communication from 
the speakers in preparation 
for the talk. The event was 
relatively easy to set up 
and it ran smoothly on the 
day. I am really excited to 
share this experience with 
my colleagues and organise 
events for my other classes

Mrs Coetser

Thank you! During 
lockdown and on from that, 
you have provided a great 
service for young people 
- and us teachers trying 
to help them navigate 
their way to Careers. It 
has been inspirational 
and motivational and has 
played a part in making 
Careers discussions part of 
our school culture.

Schools far from major 
towns and cities really 
struggle to get employer 
engagement and 
particularly the sort of 
global game changers you 
were able to attract. Any 
employer engagement 
makes a difference to a 
young person’s positive 
destination chances.  
This event was invaluable. 
Especially for non-
attending pupils.

Teacher 
Saint Gregorys, Bath 

Did you know our Insight Reports 
can offer education insights and 
benchmarking for you?

Recommendation Engine

Our Insight Reports track the number and type 
of events booked, the location, details of leaders 
volunteering, their skills and businesses; and 
student numbers attending each event. We are 
able to share insights that highlight which Local 
Authorities are facilitating the most Student-
Employer Encounters with employers. The report 
ranks local authorities by the total number of 
SEEs per 1000 pupils as it allows us to control for 
population size in order to accurately compare 
Local Authorities. Furthermore, the data allows us 
to show the type of encounters most frequently 
facilitated, the time of year activity takes place, and 
the age range of the pupils who experience the 
SEEs, both nationally and per Local Authority.

We are keen to ensure our services are easy-
to-use and accessible to all. To maximize the 
impact of Student-Employer Encounters and to 
improve user experience, we have enhanced 
our recommendation engine. Users receive 
recommendations linked to career education 
frameworks so each young person gets the most 
suitable encounter at the right time.

Here’s what educators say about the 
support we offer:

Here’s what they had to say about the 
first-ever F4S Careers Jam:
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Throughout 2020-21 we 
welcomed a number of new 
corporate, delivery and funding 
partners to our platform.   Our 
partners share our mission to 
create brighter futures for young 
people but often lack an effective 
way to provide support to schools 
and young people.   By working 
together we can provide a diverse 
insight into growing sectors and 
those that face challenges in 
attracting the next generation 
of talent. In addition to gaining a 
channel to schools, colleges and 
universities across the UK they 
also get access to personalised 
sign-up pages for volunteers 
and educators,  premium insight 
reports as well supporting us in 
our F4S Digital Careers Spotlight 
days and other projects.

Why do we use insight reports?

Premium insight reports

What do we do with the insight reports?

Insight

Why use our premium services?

Impact

Partners can gain insight into the encounters young 
people have with employees. They can use the 
data displayed on their insight page to evidence 
the impact and the reach their company has when 
inspiring the next generation of talent. 

Our Premium Services capture a wide range of 
data, such as how many pupils have encountered 
volunteer role models, and what type of encounter 
they experienced. 

Educational partners can see the number of SEEs 
per 1k of population by community. The reports 
can be filtered with detailed charts showing the 
exact number of SEEs per 1k of population, and 
the overall number of SEEs. This allows partners to 
track the impact that the F4S platform is making 
on their community, whether that be educator, 
corporate partner or funding organisation. 

The impact of our activities can be measured by 
quantifying the number of young people accessing 
our services. In 2021, we used this data to learn we 
had an impact on 54,103 students.

 Celebrate those who are committed to inspiring 
 young people about their future, for example,

 Most Active Businesses

 We congratulate local businesses for putting in the   
 most hours. We know which companies are   
 committing the most time to developing the future  
 talent pipeline.

 Most Active Schools

 We recognise schools that are engaging business   
 leaders with pupils on a cumulative basis. 

 Active Volunteers 

 We celebrate volunteers who are the most active   
 when it comes to student encounters.
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Our volunteer role models make what we do possible 
by giving their time and sharing their insights about the 
workplace for the benefit of young people, helping them 
make more informed decisions about their future. F4S 
offers them the opportunity to give back, to develop 
personally and build new skills, and to develop a high-
quality stream of talent for their future pipeline.  Our 
move to online career inspiration webinars offered 
them the ability to volunteer further afield and they 
have provided continuous inspiration to students whilst 
schools were closed due to Covid-19.

Our volunteers are our ambassadors and we were 
encouraged to see a high level of engagement during 
a turbulent time.  We supported our role models on 
conducting encounters online and we provided advice 
and support on safeguarding. 

Another highlight of the year was the improvements 
we made to the platform to enable volunteers to be 
more explicit in how they can and would like to offer 
their support.  This new functionality facilitates better 
matching between the educator and volunteers.  It 
has also resulted in the platform being able to provide 
insight into diversity, equality and inclusion more 
effectively, something which is of importance to many 
of the teachers using our platform.

Digital Boost offered volunteers further opportunities 
to give back to their community, through a platform 
that means they can guide and support SMEs and 
other charities in boosting their technical skills. 
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In 2020-21 465 volunteers 
shared their career stories. 

Archangels invests in early-stage 
disruptive technology businesses 
based in Scotland.  Exciting young 
people with the career prospects 
which exist in our companies is 
really important to us and F4S is 
a great way for us to share the 
opportunities.  At the start of the 
pandemic F4S really grasped the 
potential of online delivery and 
we were able to reach thousands 
more young people as a result.

Please keep volunteering your 
time to this excellent cause; 
changing the culture towards 
Mathematics (particularly 
amongst females) is one of the 
most effective levers we can 
use to improve attainment and 
outcomes for students across  
the UK.

Being involved in F4S and Maths4Girls 
has been fantastic. You get the 
opportunity to do something that is 
incredibly rare – to touch someone’s 
life in a way that hopefully inspires 
them and broadens their view of what 
is possible.

I liked the way the presenters 
showed how aspects of the school 
maths were relevant in their jobs. 
And the different routes they’d 
taken since school to get into their 
jobs, degree, apprenticeship etc. 

My boys were pretty engrossed 
too - a good variety of ways to use 
their maths.

Whenever I do a free mentoring 
session with Digital Boost, I get 
hyped by the enthusiasm of the 
learners and their projects. Love it 
every single time! There is nothing 
like sharing knowledge to help others 
achieve their goals and dreams.

The volunteers supporting were 
seriously wonderful and the 
learning that took place was 
extensive. Another amazing event 
supported by yourselves. Many 
many thanks.

What our volunteers say about taking part in F4S encounters:

What our educators and parents say about our volunteers:

Niki McKenzie  
Joint Managing Director at 
Archangel Investors Limited

Careers Lead 
Arden Academy,  
Solihull

Strategy Director 
Small Innovation Business

Parent 
Arden Academy,  
Solihull

Tomás Lopes da Fonseca, PhD
Head of Marketing,  
Digital Solutions at Bayer

Teacher  
Lonsdale School,
Stevenage
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Sherry has co-founded several organisations, 
angel-invested in more than 70 companies 
and is an LP in 5 venture capital firms.  Sherry 
has decades of experience in the private, 
Government and public sectors and has had 
the privilege of chairing FTSE companies, 
acting as Senior Independent Director, Chairing 
Remuneration Committees, Nomination 
Committees and serving on audit committees.

Sherry Coutu is a non-executive Director of 
Pearson plc, London Stock Exchange plc, 
Workfinder, and Raspberry Pi.  In addition to 
Chairing F4S, Sherry also supports the Scaleup 
Institute, SVC2UK, Digital Boost, and National 
Numeracy. She was appointed Commander of 
the Order of the British Empire (CBE) for services 
to entrepreneurship in the New Year’s Honours 
List 2013 and she was commissioned by the 
UK Government in 2014 to author the Scaleup 
Report on UK Economic Growth.

Jo is a partner within the Engineering Division at 
Goldman Sachs, joining the firm in 1997, she was 
named managing director in 2008 and partner 
in 2014. During her time at the firm, Jo has held 
a number of roles across Technology both in 
New York and London, predominantly focusing 
on the buildout of all functions related to data 
architecture, software engineering, workflow, 
runtime management software change and 
development practices.

Janet is the Managing Director Business at 
London & Partners, London’s international 
Trade, Investment and Promotion agency.  She 
supports international companies and events to 
invest in London and helps London’s innovative 
companies to scale and expand internationally 
through a number of business and innovation 
programmes. Janet was formerly a Diplomat 
for the UK government and also led London’s 
business programme during the 2012 Olympic 
and Paralympic Games.

Gary is writing chapter 3 of his life helping people 
and companies achieve their potential.  He 
opened two new offices at BDO during a 33 year 
career, while working with a range of clients, 
mainly in the tech space.

Gary’s roles included creating and developing 
the relationship between the BDO UK and US 
firms during a period of significant growth, 
building pathways for collaboration.  He was 
elected to the partnership’s oversight board for 
two terms where he was involved in reviewing 
strategy, partner recruitment and promotion as 
well as governance and fairness

Sherry Coutu CBE 
She/Her 
Appointed Chairman 15 June 2015 
Founder, Founders4Schools

Joanne Hannaford 
She/Her 
Head of EMEA Technology &  
Global Head of Quality Assurance Engineering

Janet Coyle 
She/Her 
Managing Director Business  
at London & Partners

Gary Hanson 
He/Him 
Mentor, board advisor, investor and  
non-executive director
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Jonathan is a (non-practising) solicitor with senior 
management experience gained at two major 
brands (Sony and Apple) in Europe, USA and 
Asia. Jonathan’s 30+ year career spans working 
as a private practice solicitor in the City and 
managing an international in-house corporate 
and compliance function of 100+ people.

In 2018, having left full-time corporate life, 
Jonathan established himself as an independent 
Civil Mediator. He is CEDR-Accredited (2002) 
and a Member of the Civil Mediation Council. In 
2019 Jonathan was appointed by the Ministry of 
Justice to be an Independent Monitoring oard 
member of HM Prisons. When not mediating, 
Jonathan spends his time working as a Non-
Executive Director of, and advisor to, technology 
start-up companies.

Lauren von Stackelberg is an entrepreneurial 
Equity Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) leader, founder 
and charity board chair with experience across 
six continents in Consumer, Technology, Travel 
and Financial Services.

She was one of the youngest women to join the 
C Suite of a FTSE 250 company. Lauren is Tate 
& Lyle’s first Chief Equity Diversity & Inclusion 
Officer. Prior to this, Lauren was Expedia Group’s 
first Global Head of Inclusion & Diversity and 
J.P. Morgan’s first and founding Head of Client 
Diversity Strategy. She founded collaborative 
networks in both Finance (The WealthiHer 
Network) and Travel (CEO Action Inclusive Travel 
Group). She is a force for social change with 
notable recognition as one of the UK’s Most 
Influential D&I Leaders.

Russ is the Founder of Tech London Advocates 
(TLA) and Global Tech Advocates, private 
sector-led groups of leaders promoting tech 
ecosystems and addressing the issues on the 
horizon.

The groups are not-for-profit communities of 
individuals with aspirations to build and promote 
tech hubs globally. He has been appointed 
as a London Tech Ambassador by the Mayor 
of London’s Office and is part of the London 
Technology Week steering group, a member 
of the Digital Skills Partnership, a trustee of 
Modern Muse, and advisor to F4S, Teen Tech, 
the Creative Industries Federation, E2Exchange, 
Growth Enabler.

As the VP of International Business at Snap Inc, 
Claire is leading growth and revenue across 
four continents to unlock the potential of 
International markets while continuing to scale 
those that are already realized.

Prior to joining Snap in 2016, Claire was the 
Director of Agency Partnerships at Facebook 
UK; Media Director at Weve, and Managing 
Director of Weve’s predecessor, O2 Media. 
Claire began her career agency- side, spending 
more than 11 years at Mindshare across world-
class brands.

Jonathan Pearl 
He/Him 
Civil Mediator, Advisory Board Chairman, IMB 
Board Member, and Non-Executive Director

Lauren Von Stackelberg 
She/Her 
Chief Equity Diversity & Inclusion Officer,  
Tate & Lyle and Founder The WealthiHer Network

Russ Shaw CBE 
He/Him 
Founder of Tech London Advocates (TLA)  
and Global Tech Advocates

Claire Valoti 
She/Her 
Vice President of the International 
Business at Snap Inc
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Gori Yahaya, serial entrepreneur, is the CEO and 
founder of UpSkill Digital, a leading organisation 
in the world of digital education and inclusion. He 
has over a decade of experience building and 
implementing award-winning digital learning and 
social impact programs for the likes of Google, 
Samsung, Lloyds Bank and BT.

An evangelical advocate for diversity and 
inclusion with a mission to support people of 
minority ethnic backgrounds to boost progression 
and develop relevant skills for the future 
workplace, his expertise has been critical to the 
development and continued success of many 
global learning programmes covering regions 
across Europe, Africa, and Asia.

Gori Yahaya 
He/Him 
CEO and founder of  
UpSkill Digital 

Our Advisory Councils 
In addition to our Trustees, we benefit greatly from 
valuable input from a wide range of stakeholders 
from the worlds of education, business, career 
guidance, public and third sectors, and government 
as well as the industry experts many of whom are 
also parents who sit on our independent steering 
committees and advisory councils sharing their 
experience, knowledge and networks to support  
us in achieving our mission.

A huge thank you to our Trustees, Advisory Councils 
and Maths4Girls Steering Committee for their 
continued guidance and support. 

In 2020-21, we raised a total of 
£1,321,816 for F4S restricted and 
unrestricted income to support the 
delivery of our charitable objectives.

In the charity’s infancy, we relied on significant 
contributions from a small number of generous 
donors and grantmakers. In support of our 
ambition to raise our profile and continue as a 
free platform for all educators across the UK, 
we have been developing a broader range of 
income streams to  achieve long term financial 
sustainability and welcome support from new 
audiences. We have been particularly successful 
in developing new corporate partnerships, 
supporting organisations such as Hitachi Energy, 
Chubb and Novartis to prepare a diverse and 
skilled emerging talent.

The pandemic continues to impact income, but 
we are mitigating this by broadening our income 
streams to ensure we can capitalise on the 
passion and generosity of all our stakeholders 
and those with a commitment to early careers, 
diversity and equality in the workplace and 
preparing a skilled and sustainability-conscious 
workforce.

In our sixth year as a UK charity, we are continuing 
to strengthen our funding relationships with 
individuals, trusts, foundations and companies 
who share our aim to improve the employability of 
young people. Donors are helping us to diversify 
our services and we are extremely grateful to all 
our donors who enable the facilitation of more 
Student Employer Encounters (SEEs), more 
programmes with youth providers and more 
partnerships with educators. We extend a sincere 
thank you to all our donors: individual, corporate, 
grant-givers and commercial partners, as well as 
other collaborating organisations, for their support 
during 2020. 

 
    

We extend particular 
gratitude to:

100 Women in Finance 

Chubb 

Draper’s Foundation 

Evolution Education Trust

Golden Bottle Trust (C Hoare & Co)

Google

Guild

Hitachi Energy

Innovate UK 

Insurance Industry Charitable Foundation

JP Morgan 

Joanna Hannaford

Kuenssberg Charitable Foundation

Kusuma Trust 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Mina Gerowin

Novartis

Robert Sansom

Sage Foundation

Scottish Government 

Worshipful Company of Actuaries

BCG Digital Ventures

EY

LinkedIn 

Shoosmiths

The decision to transfer Digital Boost into the 
charity’s limited arm, will bring the charity’s core 
delivery back to career education whilst enabling 
Digital Boost to develop independent income and to 
generate profits in the future. The charity will be able 
to benefit from positive developments of the F4S 
trading arm as it continues to thrive.

We would also like to thank our pro bono supporters 
who positively impacted our organisation with  
active in-kind engagement 

Fundraising
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We’re proud of the work 
we delivered throughout a 
challenging year. As the impacts 
of Covid-19 are expected to be 
with us for a long time, close 
attention to ensuring financial 
sustainability is a priority for the 
Trustees and senior management 
team who will continue to closely 
monitor the impact on the overall 
delivery and development of the 
charity.  That said we have big 
ambitions for both our future 
activity and the impact we have 
on creating brighter futures for 
young people across the UK.

Diversifying our income streams
We have laid the foundations on which to strengthen our activity in securing corporate partnerships and 
driving individual giving to support our income diversification, particularly in terms of unrestricted funding.  
We will build on this work through projects already in the pipeline such as our inaugural Role Model Week 
and Big Give campaigns that will support us in delivering our mission and future sustainability.

Expanding our reach
Our platform is built to scale and has the capacity to support far more educators. Next year we will 
motivate educators to go back to actively using our platform-based service and we have great ambitions  
to expand our offer to more schools and more young people across the UK. We will amplify the work we 
do through partnerships, developing internal processes and a strengthened marketing proposition.  We 
will also work to ensure that as we expand our services we maintain and strengthen the delivery of our 
core values of equality, diversity and inclusion - social and geographic.

Aligning with our strategic priorities
Digital skills, sustainability and equity in STEM - we are passionate about these areas, believing they are 
important to the wider UK economy.  Raising awareness, overcoming unconscious bias, tackling socio-
economic barriers and developing a pipeline of talent who believe their future belongs to these sectors 
will be a focus when developing projects and partnerships. 

Putting impact at the heart of our work
We will strive to improve the ways we show the impact of the work that we do and that it reflects the society 
in which we live.  The work that we do to help prepare young people can take years to bear fruit but as a 
data-driven organisation, we believe that demonstrating impact is a key element of the work we do.  
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Sherry Coutu, MBE  
Founder & Chair, Founders4Schools

Chairman’s 
report

Report  
of the 
trustees

It is 10 years since we put together the first 
prototype for Founders4Schools and I am 
pleased to report  that since then, we have 
facilitated more than 1.5  million encounters 
between employers and students via 
educators - despite  the  recent backdrop of 
the recent global pandemic, which has been 
incredibly disruptive to all the elements of our 
value chain. 

To have helped more than 500,000 young people with their 
transition to work is a testament to what can be achieved by 
stakeholders in their communities when they put their minds 
and resources together on important matters, but there is 
much more to do and it is more important than ever.

I am pleased that innovation still beats strongly within our 
heart - and that our original offering now enables additional 
encounter-types in the tech-for-good sphere.

Maths4Girls 
Building on the meme, if you can’t see it you can’t be it… 
Maths4Girls allows us to showcase to 11-14 year old girls 
women in all industries use mathematics in their everyday 
professional lives.   Our on-line and in-real life encounters are 
cross referenced to the UN Sustainable Development Goals, 
allowing both educators and the employers of our volunteers 
to chart their impact on the SDG’s as well.

Digital Boost
To support members of the communities who have been 
volunteering their time in classrooms for the past ten years, 
we leveraged the F4S platform so it could tap the highly 

expert volunteers from the professional services and digital 
industries to inspire and upskill our volunteers who work for 
small businesses (rather than educators from schools).  This 
preserves and makes more resilient the pipeline of talent 
we can make available to young people in the schools our 
educator-users work at.

Workfinder
The classroom is a very narrow place from which to view the 
world!  To supplement the classroom-based encounters we 
make available to young people and the networks that may 
be available to them via their parents, aunts and uncles, we 
support young people with experiential learning, mentoring, 
masterclasses and short-online courses via Workfinder.  
Experiential learning ranges from short employer show-case 
tasters, to placements of 1-4 weeks, to internships of 1-12  
months, to apprenticeships and permanent roles. 

The impact outlined in this report was not possible 
without our multiple stakeholders  to whom I extend my 
wholehearted appreciation.  From the educators who 
choose our platform to enrich their curriculum; to our 
volunteer role models who share their time, knowledge and 
career journeys in the hope it will light a spark of inspiration; 
to our donors, partners and funders who enable us to deliver 
our mission of better preparing young people for the future 
world of work and lastly to the wonderful team at F4S and to 
our Trustees and Advisors, whose guidance and advice has 
supported us through this year.

I am grateful to you all for thriving in what was a challenging 
year in an interesting journey so far.  As I look forward, I 
am encouraged by what is already shaping up to be an 
impactful year supporting the next generation of talent as 
they prepare for the world of work.

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
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Highlights of the year
Following the successful launch of our new 
StudentEmployer Encounter type called Maths4Girls, 
Maths4Girls was rolled out nationally. This has meant that 
including the pilot project by the end of June 2021 there 
were over 33,000 M     aths4Girls encounters.

In our continued commitment to respond to the changing 
needs of young people, we launched our first virtual 
careers fair, Careers Jam, in May. Over 1,500 young people 
attended from over 100 UK locations, with almost 50% of 
attendees identifying as coming from a BAME origin.

Digital Boost, a service helping those who work for SMEs 
and Charities to acquire the digital skills necessary to grow 
the organisation, has flourished and in June Digital Boost 
was transferred into the charity’s limited arm. This will bring 
the charity’s core delivery back to career education whilst 
enabling Digital Boost to develop independent income and 
to generate profits in the future. 

Also in June we launched our ‘Sustainable Futures’ 
programme, in collaboration with WWF and Villiers Park 
Educational Trust and supported by Evolution Education 
Trust. The programme aims to accelerate opportunities for 
young people and make sustainable careers an attractive 
place for them to focus their futures.

Financial review
The Charity generated total income of £1,322k for the 
year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: £2,040k) This consists  
of £1,259k (2020 £2,038k) from donations and grants  
and £62k (2020 £1k) from other sources.

Restricted income, which can only be used for a specific 
purpose, amounted to £1,009k (2020: £306k) and makes 
up 76%  (2020: 15%) of total income. £605k in the year 
ended 30 June 2021 (2020: £nil) relates to restricted 
income relating to Digital Boost.

There were no donated services in 2021. In the 
previous period, in-kind donations totalled £940k which 
represented the  costs incurred to develop the Digital 
Boost project. On 1 June 2021 the Digital Boost project 
was transferred into a separate trading company.

Total costs were £1,336k (2020: £1,745k after 
restatement).

The 2020 expenditure includes software development 
costs of £560k in respect of the Digital Boost platform. 
Previously development costs were capitalised but, 
following a change to a more prudent accounting policy, 
development costs have been expensed in the year 
incurred so the prior period has been restated.

Funds carried forward at the end of the year were 
£1,164k (2020: £1,179k after restatement), which 
comprised of £946k (2020: £1,021k) in unrestricted funds 
and £218k (2020: £158k) in restricted funds. 

Free reserves are the part of a charity’s unrestricted 
funds that are freely available to spend on any of the 
charity’s purposes. 

Free reserves are calculated by taking the total 
unrestricted funds and excluding tangible fixed assets 
and investments as these assets are not freely available 
to contribute towards working capital requirements.  

At the end of the year free reserves stood at £99k  
(2020: £177k).

Our impact
We are keen to discover new methodologies to collect 
insights measuring our impact. Using qualitative and 
quantitative data, we demonstrate the outcome F4S’ 
services make on student and educator satisfaction. 

We create assets that demonstrate impact in the  
following ways: 

 Booking per Educator 

 Educator certification – From our CPD certified training 
 programme 

 NPS scores – Net Promoter Score: a universally used 
 benchmark measure to evaluate and improve 
 customer loyalty. 

All our projects are scalable and are monitored effectively 
to attract sustainable support from corporate partners. We 
are able to see and share the number and effectiveness of 
our services. We will continue to develop our insight services 
so we can effectively monitor our impact.

Public benefit statement 

The trustees can confirm that in 
exercising their powers and duties 
they have complied with their duty 
to have due regard to the guidance 
on public benefit published by the 
Charity Commission.  K.
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Report of the trustees
The trustees present their report with the 
financial statements of the charity for the 
year ended 30 June 2021. The trustees 
have adopted the provisions of Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities: Statement 
of Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 
January 2019). 

The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the 
accounting policies set out in notes to the 
accounts and comply with the charity’s 
governing document, the Charities Act 
2011 and Accounting and Reporting by 
Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing 
their accounts in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland.

About us
F4S operates in a double-sided marketplace, meeting the 
needs of both educators and the business community. 
With your help, F4S has become an award-winning charity 
connecting students with inspirational role models to 
improve their aspirations, to fulfil their potential and to 
prepare them for the rapidly changing world of work. 

We collaborate with educators, partners, parents, 
volunteers and students to offer an online platform that 
makes recommendations to educators, so they can 
arrange StudentEmployer Encounters (SEEs) based on 
their preferred criteria in just minutes. Educators who 
use our services can choose from over twenty different 
types of SEEs, and our personalised guidance builds upon 
research commissioned by our partners including the 
Royal Society, Gatsby Foundation, Enabling Enterprise 
and other stakeholders who make this possible. These 
SEEs increase youth employability, improve social mobility 
and help close the skills-gap that is a major obstacle to 
economic growth. 

Our approach has been endorsed by the IOD, FSB, 
Chamber of Commerce and CBI.

We continue to consult widely with educators as well 
as business to ensure it best meets their ongoing and 
future needs. In this way, teachers and volunteers are 
empowered not burdened with yet another initiative. Our 
success depends on engaging and collaborating with our 
core groups of stakeholders. We monitor NPS scores of 
our services, now including Digital Boost, and the number 
of repeat educator bookings to measure our success.

We are committed to supporting the continued learning 
and development of educators who use our services 
to enhance their ability to prepare students in our 
communities for the future of work. 

We launched Digital Boost in partnership with BCG Digital 
Ventures and with the support of DCMS to help those who 
work for SMEs and Charities upskill digitally to help mitigate 
business challenges presented by the COVID- 19 crisis.  

The services that F4S provides helps to improve social 
mobility, inclusivity and access to employability skills, 
levelling the playing field for those who need them the most.  

Objectives and activities
F4S’ charitable object, as set out in the constitution, is to 
advance and promote the education of people under the 
age of 25 by promoting, facilitating and assisting in the 
provision of careers education and advice with the intention 
of encouraging and enabling young people to leave formal 
education with a skill set that is appropriate for or consistent 
with available jobs, thereby reducing the skills gap.  

The activities carried out by Digital Boost are closely linked 
to the educational objects of the charity. As Digital Boost 
has grown and flourished during the year, the Charity is 
currently in the process of expanding its objects to include 
helping those who work for SMEs and Charities to acquire 
the digital skills necessary to grow the organisation.
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We would like to thank all our partners for their 
ongoing support and look forward to working  
with you closely over the next year. To find out  
more about our partners, please visit  
www.founders4schools.org.uk/partners

Thank you to all of our funders/partners for their 
generosity. We are immensely grateful for your 
ongoing support. 

These include:

Thank  
you to our  
donors 
and pro
bono
partners
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Structure, governance and management
F4S is a charitable incorporated organisation governed by 
its constitution.

It has the support of many stakeholders from the worlds 
of education, philanthropy and banking that support our 
important work.

Investment policy
The charity will only make investments in organisations 
whose objectives are consistent with the charitable aims of 
Founders4Schools. 

The Charity has a wholly owned subsidiary Digital Boost 
Upskilling Limited which changed its name from F4S 
Trading Ltd on 16 November 2021.  On 1 June 2021 the 
activities of Digital Boost were hived down to the subsidiary.  
Prior to the hive down the subsidiary was dormant. Digital 
Boost provides digital skills for SMEs.

The Charity also has an investment in Workfinder Limited. 
Workfinder was spun out of Founders4Schools in 2019. It is 
anticipated that the shareholding in Workfinder will reduce 
as Workfinder continues to raise further investment through 
the issue of share capital. Workfinder’s principal activity 
is the placement of young people in work internships and 
work placements.

Reserves policy
The charity is currently building its reserves balance and 
it aims to achieve the desired level of reserves by 2026. 
The Charity’s desired level of reserves is to hold 4 months 
of operating expenditure in free reserves. This will enable 
the charity to manage financial risk and short term income 
volatility.

The level of free reserves at 30 June 2021 is £99k which 
represents approximately two months of operating 
expenditure.

Free reserves are the part of the charity’s unrestricted funds 
that are freely available to spend on any of the charity’s 
purposes. 

Free reserves are calculated by taking the total unrestricted 
funds and excluding tangible fixed assets and investments 
as these assets are not freely available to contribute 
towards working capital requirements.  

Principal Risks
The principal risks facing the charity, as identified by the 
trustees, are outlined below along with the strategies to 
mitigate them:

1 Lack of funding - Risk mitigation:

 Ensuring the on-going strength of pipeline fundraising  
 activity is split between managing the growth of   
 existing supporters and the business development to  
 identify and attract new supporters

 Diversification of fundraising sources and income   
 streams related to services we provide including   
 Work Experience Referrals, Training and Certification  
 and Licence Fees

 Clear communication of F4S’ mission in a concise   
 case for support to encourage unrestricted funding

 Ensure sufficient impact evidence and case studies to  
 demonstrate worth of investment

2 The software platform is not effective - Risk mitigation:

 Ensuring consistent, robust software development   
 and testing

 Ensuring regular feedback from users and software  
 updates on operational functionality

 Securing specific funding and in kind support to   
 redevelop the platform

3 Failure to attract and retain the right quality of staff –  
 Risk mitigation:

 Annual salary survey and pay review was undertaken  
 to align pay with sector market rates

 Training, conditions, performance development and  
 feedback systems are reviewed on a regular basis

 Succession planning was undertaken 
 Staff Survey and appropriate action taken on the   

 outcomes highlighted

4  Reliance on Workfinder and Digital Boost success 
 as an alternative income source to supplement our  
 existing funding of charity operation – Risk mitigation:

 Evaluating other providers of income
 Developing alternative revenue streams

5  Competition and increased web-based offerings from  
 other similar programmes in the UK – Risk mitigation:

 Keeping abreast of competition and ensuring we   
 have a clear brand and identity

 Ensuring clear service offer

100 Women in Finance 

ABB Power Grids

Barclays

BCG Digital Ventures

Bloomberg

BT

Chubb

Chesterfield Charitable Foundation

Draper Foundation

Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport

Enders Analysis

Evolution Education Trust

EY

Goldman Sachs

Google

Innovate UK

Insurance Industry Charitable Foundation

JP Morgan

Kusuma Trust

LinkedIn

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham

Novartis Pharmaceuticals

Sage Foundation

Scottish Government

Scottish Tech Army

Shoosmiths

Snap

Tata Consultancy Services

The Hone Family Charitable Trust

The Worshipful Company of Actuaries

Tides Foundation

Villiers Park Educational Trust

Visa
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Information and fundraising
F4S is supported by a number of corporations, charitable 
trusts and foundations, as well as philanthropic gifts from 
major donors. We thank supporters appropriately and 
demonstrate the difference their money makes.

The Charity has in place a range of policies and processes 
that promote corporate responsibility and ethical behaviour, 
and we have further strengthened our approach during the 
course of the year. This includes an updated whistle blowing 
policy

Since 1 September 2021 F4S has been registered with the 
Fundraising Regulator, an independent body who set and 
maintain the standards for charitable fundraising.

In registering we agree to fundraise according to the 
regulator’s strict set of codes and adhere to the Fundraising 
Promise, ensuring that our fundraising is legal, open, honest 
and respectful

We do not sub-contract fundraising activities to third 
parties.

We have received no complaints about our fundraising 
activities during both this year and the previous one.

We are developing our fundraising strategy and plans 
for 2021/22 and beyond as part of the business planning 
process. The high-level goals are:

To diversify our sources of funding, including:

 i. Build a new corporate and major donor prospect 
 pipeline to increase the number of organisations we 
 work with and secure financial support from

 ii. Grow unrestricted income to support our activity

 iii. Secure restricted income only where it fits with our  
 strategic goals

 iv. Develop and implement an engagement strategy for  
 high net worth individuals 
 v. Devote time and resources into building long-term  
 relationships with potential donors

 vi. To build a case for support which attracts High Net  
 Worth support

To build capacity and infrastructure to support a more 
diverse funding model, including:

 i. Grow capacity in the team to support UK expansion

 ii. Continue to add members to our trustee board and  
 advisory councils to steer our fundraising strategy and  
 expand our funding networks

 iii. Communicate effectively with partners and donors  
 with regular impact reports, newsletters, events, and  
 other engagement activities

 iv. Improve donor communication and recognition via  
 the website

 v. Integrate fundraising messages into our marketing  
 activities

During the year the charity spent £175k on raising funds 
of £1,322k compared to £140k on £2,0401k in the previous 
year.
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Organisation element  Key Roles and Responsibilities

Trustee board

Meet quarterly. 
The ultimate responsibility for directing the affairs of the charity,  
ensuring it is solvent, well-run, as well as manages and assesses risks and  
ensure it is achieving its charitable status

Advisory Councils Meet quarterly to advise on impact, to refer funding opportunities,  
and to act as ambassadors for F4S in their communities.

Senior Management team
Meet weekly to execute plans that have been approved by the trustees and to review and  
mitigate key strategic and operational risks. It is responsible for fundraising, business  
development and internal operations including financial control and; programmes.

Staff
Daily stand up meetings.
Reviews and provide input to strategic three-year business plan and annual business plan.

Organisation structure
The charity decision-making and overall strategic 
direction of the charity are determined by the trustees, 
who are supported by Advisory Councils, which are  
made up of senior business leaders and educationalists. 

The following table summarises the key elements of the 
charity’s organisational structure.

The Chairman is Sherry Coutu. 

New trustees are appointed by the board, after a skills 
audit and a gap analysis, at the recommendation of the 
Nominations Committee. New trustees are issued with an 
appointment letter together with an agreement for signing 
and as part of their induction will meet with each member 
of the senior management team to gain a comprehensive 
overview of all current activities. Trustee training and 
development is reviewed on an annual basis. 

The trustees and the senior management team constitute 
the key management personnel of the charity. No trustee 
received remuneration during the period.  

The Board of Trustees has delegated responsibility to the 
Board Remuneration Committee (“Remco”) to oversee the 
remuneration arrangements in respect of the managing 
director and set the targets for performance-related pay.

The Remco reviews the existing remuneration of the 
Managing Director, making comparisons with peer charities 
of similar size and complexity and is informed by a range of 
external benchmarking reports.

 The pay of all senior staff is reviewed annually by 
the managing director initially who then makes 
recommendations to the Board of Trustees. It is our policy 
to remunerate fairly, to ensure that we attract and retain 
the skills we require to deliver our service offering and future 
strategy. We benchmark roles and job descriptions to 
relevant not-for profit sector role
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Plans for the future
Looking Forward

We’re proud of the work we delivered throughout a 
challenging year. As the impacts of Covid-19 are expected 
to be with us for a long time, close attention to ensuring 
financial sustainability is a priority for the Trustees and 
senior management team who will continue to closely 
monitor the impact on the overall delivery and development 
of the charity.  That said we have big ambitions for both our 
future activity and the impact we have on creating brighter 
futures for young people across the UK. 

 Diversifying our income streams

We have laid the foundations on which to strengthen our 
activity in securing corporate partnerships and driving 
individual giving to support our income diversification 
particularly in terms of unrestricted funding.  We will build 
on this work through projects already in the pipeline such 
as our inaugural Role Model Week and Big Give campaigns 
that will support us in delivering our mission and future 
sustainability.

 Expanding our reach

Our platform is built to scale and has the capacity to 
support far more educators. We have plans to expand 
our offer to more schools and more young people. We will 
amplify the work we do through partnerships, developing 
internal processes and a strengthened marketing 
proposition.  We will also work to ensure that as we open 
our services we maintain and strengthen the delivery of our 
core values of equality, diversity and inclusion - social and 
geographic.

 Aligning with our strategic priorities

Digital skills, sustainability and equity in STEM - we are 
passionate about these areas, believing they are important 
to the wider UK economy.  Raising awareness, overcoming 
unconscious bias, tackling socio-economic barriers and 
developing a pipeline of talent who believe their future 
belongs to these sectors will be a focus when developing 
projects and partnerships. 

 Putting impact at the heart of our work

We will strive to improve the ways we show the impact 
of the work that we do and that it reflects the society in 
which we live.  The work that we do to help prepare young 
people can take years to bear fruit but as a data-driven 
organisation, we believe that demonstrating impact is a key 
element of the work we do.  
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Statement of trustees and responsibilities
The trustees are responsible for preparing the Report of the 
Trustees and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” 

The law applicable to charities in England and Wales, 
the Charities Act 2011, Charity (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 and the provisions of the trust deed 
requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources 
and application of resources, including the income and 
expenditure, of the charity for that period. In preparing 
those financial statements, the trustees are required to 

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply   
 them consistently; 

 Observe the methods and principles in the Charity   
 SORP; 

 Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable  
 and prudent; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards have  
 been followed, subject to any material departures   
 disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern  
 basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the   
 charity will continue in business. 

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the charity and to enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the Charities Act 2011, the Charity (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 and the provisions of the trust deed. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Approved by order of the board of trustees on 

 
and signed on its behalf by: 

Sherry Coutu, CBE  
Trustee

29 April 2022
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of 
Founders4Schools (the ‘parent charity’) and its subsidiary 
(the ‘group’) for the year ended 30 June 2021 which 
comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Activities, the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position, the Charity Statement of Financial Position, the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’. 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and  
 of the parent charity’s affairs as at 30 June 2021 and  
 of the group’s incoming resources and application of  
 resources, for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with   
 United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting   
 Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 102  
 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK  
 and Republic of Ireland’; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the   
 requirements of the Charities Act 2011.  

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report.  We are 
independent of the charity in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.  We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded 
that the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the group’s and the parent charity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees 
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the 
Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our 
Report of the Independent Auditors thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether this gives rise to a material 
misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 
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MHA Monahans

Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
Eligible to act as an auditor in terms of Section 1212 of the 
Companies Act 2006
Fortescue House
Court Street
Trowbridge
Wiltshire
BA14 8FA

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Charities (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

the information given in the Report of the Trustees   
is inconsistent in any material respect with the financial  
statements; or

sufficient accounting records have not been kept; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the  
accounting records and returns; or

we have not received all the information and  
explanations we require for our audit.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the charity’s trustees, as a 
body, in accordance with Part 4 of the Charities (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the charity’s trustees 
those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the 
charity’s trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Responsibilities of trustees
As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ 
Responsibilities, the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements which give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are 
responsible for assessing the group’s and parent charity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees 
either intend to liquidate the charity or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
We have been appointed as auditors under Section 144 
of the Charities Act 2011 and report in accordance with 
the Act and relevant regulations made or having effect 
thereunder. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue a Report of the Independent Auditors that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

The extent to which our procedures are capable of 
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

Discussions with management, including consideration  
of known or suspected instances of non-compliance  
with laws and regulations and fraud; 

Understanding of management’s internal controls 
designed to prevent and detect irregularities, and  

 fraud; 

Reviewing the minutes of Board of Trustees meetings;

Designing audit procedures to incorporate 
unpredictability around the nature, timing or extent of 
our testing of expenses; 

Performing analytical procedures to identify any 
unusual or unexpected relationships that might 
indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

Reviewing of the financial statements disclosures and 
testing to supporting documentation to assess 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations 
discussed above; 

Testing transactions entered into outside of the normal 
course of the charitable company’s business; and 

Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any 
journal entries with fraud characteristics such as   
journals with round numbers

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Report of the Independent Auditors.

Date:

and signed on its behalf by: 

29 April 2022
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Consolidated 
statement  
of financial 
activities

Accounts

Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities

Income and endowments from

Notes Unrestricted funds Restricted funds Total funds Total funds as restated 

Donations and legacies 2 £279,728 £979,678 £1,259,406 £2,038,440

Charitable activities 
Education support 4 - - - £550

Other trading activities  
Trading company income 14 - £29,779 £29,779 -

Investment income
Other income

3 £79 - £79 £410

£32,552 - £32,552 £296

Total £312,359 £1,009,457 £1,321,816 £2,039,696

2021 2020

Expenditure on

Raising funds 5 £174,977 - £174,977 £139,731

Charitable activities 
Education support 6 £212,570 £896,421 £1,108,991 £1,605,563

Other 14 - £52,263 £52,263 -

Total £387,547 £948,684 £1,336,231 £1,745,294

Net(expenditure)/income (£75,188) £60,773 (£14,415) £294,402

Reconciliation of funds

Total funds brought forward

As previously reported 

Prior year adjustment

£1,689,916 £157,604 £1,847,520 £884,246

12 (£668,674) (£198) (£668,872) -

As restated £1,021,242 £157,406 £1,178,648 £884,246

Total funds carried forward £946,054 £218,179 £1,164,233 £1,178,648

for the Year Ended 30 June 2021

The notes form part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Charity Statement of Financial Position

Fixed assets

Notes Unrestricted funds Restricted funds Total funds Total funds as restated 

Tangible assets 13 £6,516 - £6,516 £3,322

Investments 14 £840,452 - £840,452 £840,452

Total £846,968 - £846,968 £843,774

Fixed assets

Notes Unrestricted funds Restricted funds Total funds Total funds as restated 

Tangible assets 13 £6,516 - £6,516 £3,322

Investments 14 £840,552 - £840,552 £840,552

Total £847,068 - £847,068 £843,874

Current assets

Debtors 15 £45,367 £145,759 £191,126 £379,493

Cash at bank £215,083 £157,726 £372,809 £295,860

Total £260,450 £303,485 £563,935 £675,353

Current assets

Debtors 15 £45,367 £145,750 £191,117 £379,493

Cash at bank £215,083 £66,000 £281,083 £295,860

Total £260,450 £211,750 £472,200 £675,353

Creditors

Amounts falling due within one year 16 (£161,464) (£85,206) (£246,670) (£340,479)

Net current assets £98,986 £218,279 £317,265 £334,874

Total assets less current liabilities £945,954 £218,279 £1,164,233 £1,178,648

Net assets £945,954 £218,279 £1,164,233 £1,178,648

Creditors

Amounts falling due within one year 16 (£161,464) - (£161,464) (£340,381)

Net current assets £98,986 £211,750 £310,736 £334,972

Total assets less current liabilities £946,054 £211,750 £1,157,804 £1,178,846

Net assets £946,054 £211,750 £1,157,804 £1,178,846

Funds 18

Unrestricted funds £946,054 £1,021,242

Restricted funds £218,179 £157,406

Total funds £1,164,233 £1,178,648

Funds 18

Unrestricted funds £946,054 £1,021,242

Restricted funds £211,750 £157,604

Total funds £1,157,804 £1,178,846

30 June 2021 30 June 2021

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Trustees and authorised for issue on

and signed on its behalf by: 

Sherry Coutu, CBE  
Trustee

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Trustees and authorised for issue on

and signed on its behalf by: 

Sherry Coutu, CBE  
Trustee

2021 2020 2021 2020

29 April 2022 29 April 2022

The notes form part of these financial statementsThe notes form part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1.0

Cash flows from operating activities

Notes

Cash generated from operations 20 £82,098 £292,867

Net cash/provided by operating activities £82,098 £292,867

2021 2020

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets 20 (£5,227) (£3,458)

Purchase of fixed asset investments - (£21,458)

Sale of tangible fixed assets - £448

Interest received £79 £410

Net cash used in investing activities (£5,148) (£24,058)

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period £76,950 £268,809

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 20 £295,860 £27,051

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period £372,810 £295,860

for the Year Ended 30 June 2021 for the Year Ended 30 June 2021

Accounting policies 
Founders4Schools is a charitable incorporated 
organisation registered in England and Wales. The 
principal address of charity is given within the reference 
and administration details of these financial statements. 
The nature of the charity’s operations and principal 
activities are provided in the Report of the Trustees.

The charity constitutes a public benefit entity as 
defined by FRS 102. The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts 
in accordance with the  Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), 
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), 
the Charities Act 2011 and UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice.

The financial statements have been prepared to give a 
‘true and fair’ view and have departed from the Charities 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the 
extent required to provide a ‘true and fair view’. This 
departure has involved following the Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) 
rather than the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice effective from 1 
April 2005 which has since been withdrawn.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling which is 
the functional currency of the charity and rounded to the 
nearest £1. The significant accounting policies applied in 
the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to 
all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation
These group financial statements consolidate the results 
of the charity and its wholly-owned subsidiary Digital 
Boost Upskilling Limited, both of which make up their 
financial statements to 30 June. Inter group income and 
expenditure is eliminated and all income and expenditure 
relate to external transactions only. A separate 
statement of financial activities for the charity itself is not 
presented because the charity has taken advantage of 

the exemptions afforded by Section 24 of Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice.

The prior year’s financial statements were prepared for 
the charity only as the subsidiary was dormant previously 
and only started trading from 1 June 2021.

Going concern
The trustees have considered the charity’s cash flow 
projections to ensure that the charity will continue to 
be able to operate with the resources it is likely to have 
available and concluded that the charity is a going 
concern.

Income
All income is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Activities once the charity has entitlement to the funds, 
it is probable that the income will be received and the 
amount can be measured reliably. Donations and 
any associated Gift Aid are recognised on receipt of 
the donation. Gift in kind donations for services are 
recognised at the estimated value to the Charity.

Expenditure 
Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as 
there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the 
charity to that expenditure, it is probable that a transfer 
of economic benefits will be required in settlement and 
the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. 
Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and 
has been classified under headings that aggregate all 
cost related to the category. Where costs cannot be 
directly attributed to particular headings they have been 
allocated to activities on a basis consistent with the use 
of resources.

Software development costs
The charity’s trustees have taken the decision not to 
capitalise software development costs as intangible 
assets and instead treat software development costs as 
expenses in the Statement of Financial Activities when 
incurred. This is a change to the previous accounting 
policy which was to recognise costs as an intangible 
asset when certain criteria were met and then amortise 
over the estimated useful life. As this is a change in 
accounting policy the previously capitalised costs less 
amortisation have been accounted for as a prior year 
adjustment – see note 12 to the financial statements.

The notes form part of these financial statements
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1.0 Fixed asset investment
The investment valuation represents a prudent view of 
the costs of developing the Workfinder App. In 2019 the 
charity sold the intellectual property rights of the asset to 
an associate company Workfinder Newco Limited (now 
Workfinder Limited). Workfinder Limited plans to obtain 
additional 3rd party investment to further develop the 
product and the asset will be valued at fair value or in 
these accounts the asset is valued at capitalised cost of 
development less any impairment. Other costs incurred 
during development not capitalised were expensed as 
appropriate.

Tangible fixed assets
Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates in 
order to write off each asset over its estimated useful life. 

Computer equipment - 33% on straight line basis 

Taxation 

The charity is exempt from tax on its charitable activities.

Fund accounting 
Unrestricted funds can be used in accordance with the 
charitable objectives at the discretion of the trustees.

Restricted funds can only be used for particular 
restricted purposes within the objects of the charity. 
Restrictions arise when specified by the donor or when 
funds are raised for particular restricted purposes. 
Further explanation of the nature and purpose of each 
fund is included in the notes to the financial statements.

Pension scheme
From October 2017 Founders4Schools has operated 
a defined contribution pension scheme for the benefit 
of its employees. The assets of the scheme are held 
independently from those of Founders4Schols in an 
independently administered fund. The pension costs 
charged in the financial statements represent the 
contributions payable during the year.

Continued

Debtors and creditors 
Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and 
receivable or payable within one year are recorded 
at transaction price. Loans are initially recognised at 
transaction price and then subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate model, 
less impairment. If an arrangement constitutes a finance 
transaction it is measured at present value.

Financial instruments
The charity has only financial assets and financial 
liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial 
instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially 
recognised at transaction value and subsequently 
measured at their settlement value.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The most significant areas of uncertainty that affects 
the carrying value of assets held by the charity are the 
assumptions that affect the valuation of the Workfinder 
investment asset. In the previous year the charity sold 
the intellectual property rights of the asset during the 
year end to an associate company Workfinder Limited. 
Workfinder Limited plans to obtain additional 3rd party 
investment to further develop the product.

Uptake and future cash inflows will remain uncertain 
until the project is fully complete. The charity’s trustees 
have therefore taken a prudent view of the value of 
the asset and have expensed significant costs, during 
the development phase, to reflect this uncertainty. The 
trustees consider that there is no impairment to the value 
at the balance sheet date. 

Although the valuation reflects a prudent view of the 
costs incurred, it is anticipated that the investment will 
be valued at fair value in future periods as 3rd party 
investment is obtained. The value could significantly 
increase or decrease accordingly. 

2021 2020

Donations £187,127 £724,486

Gift aid £27,557 £82,863

Grants £1,044,722 £291,091

Donated services - £940,000

£1,259,406 £2,038,440

2021 2020

2021 2020

Donations and legacies

Sherry Coutu £112,829 £300,000

Other donations £74,298 £424,486

£187,127 £724,486

Grants

DCMS £214,570 -

The Scottish Government £206,050 £86,539

Bloomberg £150,000 -

Evolution Education Trust £145,750 £80,000

Barclays £100,000 -

Tides Foundation £86,152 -

JP Morgan Chase Foundation - £98,075

Other grants £142,200 £26,477

£1,044,722 £291,091

2.0 Donation and legacies

Donated Services received in 2020 represented consultancy time donated by the Boston Consultancy Group. The 
charity has considered the commercial rates of the donated time and is satisfied that the value to the charity is at 
a level the charity would have paid for the time if it had commissioned and paid for the work itself.

Significant grants and donations received, included in the above, are as follows:

A number of funders prefer to remain anonymous and their names have been excluded accordingly.
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2021 2020

Deposit account interest £79 £410

2021 2020

Fees payable to the charity’s auditors for the audit of the charity’s financial statements £10,800 £10,300

2021 
Educational support

2020 
Total activities

Rent - £43,412

Insurance £2,373 £1,360

Postage and stationery £212 £1,510

Advertising and marketing £4,431 £24,520

Sundries £6,762 £6,906

Events and entertaining - £3,475

Recruitment £1,908 £19,371

Legal fees £11,445 £65,685

Depreciation of tangible and heritage assets £1,580 £402

Bank charges £467 £390

Auditors' remuneration £12,047 £8,911

£41,225 £175,942

2021 2020

Staff costs £171,030 £121,876

Insurance £679 £227

Postage and stationery - £234

Travel and subsistence £230 £1,418

Rent - £9,128

Sundries £3,038 £6,848

£174,977 £139,731

Activity 2021 2020

Free income Educational support - £550

Direct costs Support costs  
(see note 7.0) Total

Educational support £1,067,766 £41,225 £1,108,991

Management Finance Governance costs Totals

Educational support £28,711 £467 £12,047 £41,225

3.0

8.0

9.0

7.0

7.0

5.0

4.0

6.0

Investment income

Auditors remuneration 

Trustees remuneration and benefits

Support costs

Support costs

Raising funds 

Income from charitable activities

Charitable activity costs

Support costs are allocated between raising funds and charitable activities based on the estimated proportions 
of use of those resources.

Support costs, included in the above, are as follows: 

There were no trustees’ remuneration or other benefits for the year ended 30 June 2021 nor for the period ended 
30 June 2020.

Trustees’ expenses 

In 2021 no trustees claimed expenses. (2020: One trustee reclaimed expenses on behalf of the Charity totalling 
£4,006. Expenses included travel, subsistence and accommodation).
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Year ended
30.6.21

Year ended
30.6.20

Wages and salaries £675,780 £507,594

Social security costs £70,769 £47,467

Pension £17,544 £12,545

£764,093 £567,606

Salary band 2021 2020

£60,000 - £70,000 - 1

£70,000 - £80,000 - -

£80,000 - £90,000 1 -

2021 2020 
as restated

Developers 5 1

Partnerships and operations 5 7

Manaagement 2 2

Administration 1 1

Fund-raising 2 2

15 13

10 11Staff costs Comparatives for the statement of financial activities

The total amount of employee benefits received by key management personnel is £274,535 (2020: £294,132).  
The charity considers its key management personnel comprise the trustees and senior management team. 

1 employee (2020: 1) received emoluments in excess of £60,000 per annum:

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows: 

Unrestricted funds Restricted funds Total

Income from charitable activities

Donations and legacies £1,732,349 £306,091 £2,038,440

Charitable activities

Educational support £550 - £550

Investment income £410 - £410

Other income £296 - £296

Total £1,733,605 £306,091 £2,039,696

Expenditure on

Raising funds £139,731 - £139,731

Charitable activities

Educational support £1,291,378 £314,185 1,605,563

Total £1,431,109 £314,185 £1,745,294

Net income/(expenditure) £302,496 (£8,094) £294,402

Reconciliation of funds

Total funds brought forward £718,746 £165,500 £884,246

Total funds brought forward £718,746 £165,500 £884,246

Total funds carried forward £1,021,242 £157,406 £1,178,648

12 Prior year adjustment 

The prior year adjustment represents software development costs previously capitalised as intangible assets that 
following a change in accounting policy have now been treated as expenses. The impact of this is a decrease in 
intangible assets of £668,674 being the cost of £741,124 less amortisation of £72,450, and a decrease in funds of 
£668,674.

The prior year adjustment of £198 represents the inclusion of the Digital boost Upskilling Ltd comparatives in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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Group and charity Computer equipment

Cost

At 1 July 2020 £4,358

Additions £5,227

At 30 June 2021 £9,585

Depreciation

At 1 July 2020 £1,036

Charge for year £2,033

At 30 June 2021 £3,069

Net book value

At 30 June 2021 £6,516

At 30 June 2020 £3,322

Group and charity Computer equipment

Cost

At 1 July 2020 £4,358

Additions £5,227

At 30 June 2021 £9,585

Depreciation

At 1 July 2020 £1,036

Charge for year £2,033

At 30 June 2021 £3,069

Net book value

At 30 June 2021 £6,516

At 30 June 2020 £3,322

Shares in groups 
undertakings Unlisted investments Totals

Cost less impairment

At 1 July 2020 and 30 June 2021 £100 £840,452 £840,552

Net book value

At 30 June 2021 £100 £840,452 £840,552

At 30 June 2020 £100 £840,452 £840,552

13

14

14

Tangible fixed assets

Fixed assets investments

There were no investment assets outside the UK.

The net book value of shares in group undertakings consists of £100 investment representing shares held in 
Digital Boost Upskilling Ltd, formerly F4S Trading Ltd, (incorporated in the United Kingdom, company number 
10187293) which is a wholly owned subsidiary.

In July 2019, the intellectual property relating to the Workfinder App, was transferred to a 3rd party company - 
Workfinder Newco Limited, now Workfinder Limited (Company number 12072557). In exchange for this transfer 
the charity has received a shareholding in Workfinder Limited. It is anticipated that this will reduce as Workfinder 
Limited will continue to raise further investment through the issue of share capital.

Continued

The net book value of the unlisted investments of £840,452 represents the deemed cost of developing the 
intellectual property of the Workfinder App of £988,215 less the value of long term loans that were transferred to 
Workfinder Limited as part of the transaction of £147,763.

The asset is recorded at cost less impairment as there is insufficient information to reliably value the asset at fair 
value at the balance sheet date.

As described in note 19 - Sherry Coutu, a Trustee of Founders4Schools, is also a director of Workfinder Limited 
and M Eschbach (managing director of Founders4Schools) is Chief Executive Officer of Workfinder Limited from 
31 January  2022.

A summary of the financial performance of the subsidiary is shown below:

The assets and liabilities of Digital Boost Upskilling Ltd were:

Year ended
30.6.21

Year ended
30.6.20

Turnover external £29,779 £940,000

Turnover transfer £29,111 -

Total expenditure (£52,263) (£940,098)

Profit / (loss) £6,627 (£98)

Year ended
30.6.21

Year ended
30.6.20

Current assets £88,982 £11,284

Current liabilities (£82,453) (£11,382)

Total net assets £6,529 (£98)

Share capital and reserves £6,529 £(98)



68

Impact review Notes

69

Impact review Notes

15 17

16

18

Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year Loans

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Movement in funds

Group Charity

2021 2020  
as restated 2021 2020  

as restated

Trade debtors £27,746 £282,920 £27,746 £282,920

Prepayments and accrued income £163,380 £96,573 £163,371 £96,573

£191,126 £379,493 £191,117 £379,493

Group and charity

2021 2020  
as restated

Amounts falling due within one year on demand:

Other loans - 280,000

Group Charity

2021 2020  
as restated 2021 2020  

as restated

Other loans (see note 17) - £280,000 - £280,000

Trade creditors £18,886 £1,994 £14,193 £1,994

Social security and other taxes £114,044 £17,227 £78,599 £17,227

Other creditors £26,114 £2,780 £4,048 £2,682

Amounts due to Digital Boost Upskilling - - £1,771 -

Accruals and deferred income £87,626 £38,478 £62,853 £38,478

£246,670 £340,479 £161,464 £340,381

Group Charity

At  
1.7.20

Prior year  
adjustment

Net movement  
in funds

At  
30.6.21

Unrestricted funds

General fund £1,689,916 (£668,674) (£75,188) £946,054

Restricted funds

Scottish Government (£5,744) - £15,744 £10,000

Teacher Training £89,944 - (£49,944) £40,000

Villiers Park Project £55,318 - (£39,318) £16,000

Drapers Project £10,531 - (£10,531) -

Reece Project £5,485 - (£5,485) -

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham £3,857 - (£3,857) -

Digital Boost (£1,787) - £1,787 -

Sustainable Futures Programme - - £145,750 £145,750

£157,604 - £54,146 £211,750

Funds of charity £1,847,520 (£668,674) (£21,042) £1,157,804

Funds of subsidiary - (£198) £6,627 £6,429

Funds of group £1,847,520 (£668,872) (£14,415) £1,164,233

Included in accruals and deferred income is an amount of £46,000 received from Sherry Coutu which has been 
deferred as the donation has been given in relation to the period after 30 June 2021 (2020: £nil).      

An analysis of the maturity of loans is given below:

The £280,000 loan repayable in one year was from a Trustee. The loan was repaid during the year end and the 
amount donated to the charity.

No interest was payable on either loan.

Group and charity
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18 18Movement in funds Movement in funds

Incoming  
resources

Resources 
expended

Movement  
in funds

Unrestricted funds

General fund £312,359 (£387,547) (£75,188)

Restricted funds

Scottish Government £206,050 (£190,306) £15,744

Teacher Training - (£49,944) (£49,944)

Villiers Park Project - (£39,318) (£39,318)

Drapers Project - (£10,531) (£10,531)

Reece Project £5,025 (£10,510) (£5,485)

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham £10,700 (£14,557) (£3,857)

Digital Boost £575,653 (£573,866) £1,787

Sustainable Futures Programme £145,750 - £145,750

Goldman Sachs £23,000 (£23,000) -

Maths 4 Girls £13,500 (£13,500) -

£979,678 (£925,532) £54,146

Total for charity £1,292,037 (£1,313,079) (£21,042)

Subsidiary company £29,779 (£23,152) £6,627

Funds for group £1,321,816 (£1,336,231) (£14,415)

At 1.7.19 Net movement in  
funds as restated

At 30.6.20 
as restated

Unrestricted funds

General fund £718,746 £302,496 £1,021,242

Restricted funds

Scottish Government £67,500 (£73,244) (£5,744)

Teacher Training £98,000 (£8,056) £89,944

Villiers Park Project - £55,318 £55,318

Drapers Project - £10,531 £10,531

Reece Project - £5,485 £5,485

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham - £3,857 £3,857

Digital Boost - (£1,787) (£1,787)

£165,500 (£7,896) £157,604

Funds for charity £884,246 £294,600 £1,178,846

Funds of subsidiary - (£198) (£198)

Funds for group £884,246 £294,402 £1,178,648

Within the unrestricted fund balance at 30 June 2021 of £946,504, the level of free reserves is £99,086 which 
represents approximately two months of operating expenditure. Free reserves are the part of the charity’s 
unrestricted funds that are freely available to spend on any of the charity’s purposes. Free reserves are calculated 
by taking the total unrestricted funds and excluding tangible fixed assets and investments as these assets are not 
freely available to contribute towards working capital requirements. 

Net movement in funds, included in the above are as follows:

Comparatives for movement in funds

Continued Continued
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18 18Movement in funds Movement in funds

Continued Continued

Incoming resources 
as restated 

Resources expended  
as restated

Movement in funds 
as restated

Unrestricted funds

General fund £1,733,605 (£1,431,109) 302,496

Restricted funds

Scottish Government £86,539 (£159,783) (£73,244)

Teacher Training £98,075 (£106,131) (£8,056)

Villiers Park Project £80,000 (£24,682) £55,318

Drapers Project £15,000 (£4,469) £10,531

Reece Project £10,000 (£4,515) £5,485

LSE Intern Placement £1,477 (£1,477) -

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham ££5,000 (£1,143) £3,857

Expedia Project £10,000 (£10,000) -

Digital Boost - (£1,787) (£1,787)

£306,091 (£313,987) (£7,896)

Total for charity £2,039,696 (£1,745,096) £294,600

Subsidiary company - (£198) (£198)

Total for group £2,039,696 (£1,745,294) £294,402

Scottish Government To develop young person employability programmes throughout Scotland

Teacher Training To develop an online course CPD accredited certification  
to support teacher’s careers education in schools

Villiers Park Project To improve social mobility and develop skills for success for young people-  
Using Big Data to Improve the Employability of Young People

Drapers Project To break down the barriers for young people who are unable to access  
opportunities which will improve their lives

Reece Project To improve the Life Chances of Young in South Tyneside

LSE Intern Placement To support an internship at F4S

London Borough of Hammersmith  
& Fulham To help shape the next diverse generation and enable future economic growth for all

Expedia Project To promote female leaders to young people

Digital Boost To provide Digital Skills for SME’s

Sustainable Futures Programme
To accelerate opportunities for young people and make sustainable careers an 
attractive place for them to focus their futures (in collaboration with WWF and  
Villiers Park Educational Trust and supported by Evolution Education Trust)

Maths4girls To assist educators in increasing the proportion of girls pursuing maths beyond GCSE

Goldman Sachs Supporting software engineering at F4S

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows:
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Related party disclosures Analysis of Changes in net funds

Reconciliation of Net (expenditure)/income to Net cash flow from operating activities

The charity has taken advantage of exemption, under the terms of Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’, not to disclose related party 
transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries within the group.

During the year, the charity received a total of £158,829 (2020; £280,000) in donations either directly from S L 
Coutu (a Trustee) or from organisations in which S L Coutu is connected. At the year end £46,000 of the donations 
received have been deferred and will be recognised as income in the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Included within other loans is an amount of £Nil (2020: £280,000) payable to S L Coutu. The 2020 loan was repaid 
to S L Coutu during the year end.

M Eschbach (managing director of Founders4Schools) is Chief Executive Officer of Workfinder Limited from 
31 January 2022. As at 30 June 2021 Founders4Schools had a shareholding in Workfinder Limited valued at 
£840,451 as set out in note 14 to the financial statements. There is a commercial agreement under which the 
charity receives referral fees from Workfinder for every placement they facilitate. Fees payable by Workfinder to 
the charity were £380 (2020: £nil).

2021 2020  
as restated

Net (expenditure)/income for the reporting period  
(as per the Statement of Financial Activities)

(£14,415) £294,402

Adjustments for:

Depreciation charges £2,033 £402

Profit on disposal of fixed assets - (£296)

Interest received (£79) (£410)

Prior year adjustment (£98) £198

Debtors relating to loans (£280,000) £280,000

Decrease/(increase) in debtors £188,367 (£225,698)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors £186,290 (£55,731)

Net cash (used in)/provided by operations £82,098 £292,867

At 1.7.19 Cash flow At 30.6.20

Net cash

£295,860 £76,949 £372,809

£295,860 £76,949 £372,809

Loan

Loans falling due within 1 year (£280,000) £280,000 -

(£280,000) £280,000 -

Total £15,860 £356,949 £372,809
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